No. 22-cv-975

Clerk of the Court <u>Received 08/14/20</u>23 01:15 PM Filed 08/14/2023 01:15 PM

In the District of Columbia Court of Appeals

GILBANE BUILDING COMPANY,

Appellant,

v.

CHADWICK WITKOWSKI,

Appellee.

Appeals from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Civil Division No. CAB006865-18 (Hon. Hiram Puig-Lugo, Judge)

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

ROBERT E. WORST (DC Bar No. 469849) KALBAUGH, PFUND & MESSERSMITH, P.C. 3950 University Drive Suite 204 Fairfax, VA 22030 (703) 691-3331 robert.worst@kpmlaw.com

Counsel for Appellant

AUGUST 14, 2023

COUNSEL PRESS, LLC

(202) 783-7288 * (888) 277-3259

LIST OF PARTIES

Plaintiff/Appellee Chadwick Witkowski (an individual)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether Plaintiff made out a *prima facie* case where the evidence at trial showed that no one knows what caused him to trip and fall.

2. Whether Plaintiff presented sufficient evidence to allow a jury to find that his injuries were caused by a hazard for which Gilbane would be liable.

3. Whether the Trial Court erred by reducing Plaintiff's burden of proof on causation.

4. Whether the Trial Court improperly failed to consider all of the evidence in the record when it found that Plaintiff proved a *prima facie* claim of negligence.

5. Whether Gilbane is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This premises liability claim arises out of an incident where the Plaintiff-Appellee, Chadwick Witkowski ("Plaintiff"), fell at a construction site. Plaintiff filed a Complaint alleging that he tripped over a tie wire used to secure a sump

pump hose. Compl., at ¶¶ 6-7. Defendant-Appellant Gilbane Building Company ("Gilbane") was the general contractor for the project and a Gilbane employee secured the hose with a tie wire on the date of the accident.

The Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Civil Division (the "Trial Court"), conducted a three-day jury trial of Plaintiff's claims against Gilbane from May 16-18, 2022. At the conclusion of trial, the jury returned a verdict in Plaintiff's favor and awarded him \$1,700,000 in compensatory damages. Gilbane subsequently filed post-trial motions seeking judgment as a matter of law that it was not liable, a new trial, or remittitur. The Trial Court denied those Motions by an Order dated December 2, 2022 and entered December 4, 2022 (the "Final Order").

Plaintiff was the sole eyewitness to his accident. The accident happened at the end of the workday and no one else was in the area where he fell. During discovery, Gilbane learned that Plaintiff does not know what caused him to trip and fall. He testified during his deposition and trial that he does not know what caused him to trip and fall. The sole witness to the accident thus acknowledged that he does not know what caused the fall.

Plaintiff reported the accident to his foreman. The foreman surmised that Plaintiff must have fallen over the tie wire. Plaintiff and the foreman then reported to Gilbane that Plaintiff tripped over the tie wire. Gilbane inspected the scene, but

did not identify any physical evidence identifying where Plaintiff fell or what caused him to fall. As such, it accepted and relied on Plaintiff's statements that he tripped on the tie wire when preparing a required report to the GSA.

Gilbane was required to prepare and submit an incident report to the government. Gilbane submitted a Notice of Incident Report stating that Plaintiff tripped over the tie wire. That report was based solely on statements by Plaintiff and his foreman. Neither Plaintiff nor his supervisor actually knew what caused Plaintiff to fall.

Gilbane moved for Summary Judgment prior to trial, a directed verdict during trial, and judgment as a matter of law after trial. Gilbane argued that Plaintiff could not prove that the tie wire caused his fall. Plaintiff does not know what he tripped on, no one else saw him fall, and Gilbane's incident report was based on statements of witnesses who did not know what happened. The Trial Court denied these motions, finding that the incident report was sufficient evidence to allow Plaintiff to reach the jury. Those rulings were error.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. <u>The Site</u>

The accident happened during a construction involving the construction of a glass-roofed building connected to an existing State Department building. Trial Tr., Day II, 88:5-15 (A383). Kendall Romrell, Gilbane's Superintendent on the project,

described the security as "very strict[.]" <u>Id.</u>, at 86:15-87:21 (A384) and 97:12-14 (A392). While the project was ongoing, the construction site was secured with wood fencing, gates, and security guards. <u>Id.</u>, at 88:16-22 (A383). Plaintiff agreed that the fencing was "a tall wooden wall" around the work area. <u>Id.</u>, at 14:18-20 (A309).

The gates for the work site were not allowed to remain open. <u>Id.</u>, at 98:3-10 (A393). To enter the site at the beginning of the day, workers would exchange their drivers' licenses for badges. <u>Id.</u>, at 98:17-23 (A393). At the end of the day workers would return the badges for the licenses. <u>Id</u>. Work hours for the project were 6am to 2:30pm. <u>Id.</u>, at 98:11-13 (A393). Workers were not allowed to remain in the site after the workday ended. <u>Id.</u>, at 98:25-99:3(A393-A394). Security would close and chain the gate at the end of the day. <u>Id.</u>, at 99:12-16 (A394). Workers were not allowed back in the site once it had been closed for the night. <u>Id.</u>, at 99:17-19 (A394).

The accident happened in an area in front of the building under construction. <u>See id.</u>, at 90:18-91:11 (A385-A386). There was an open area between the security gate on one side of the front exterior of the building and a construction dumpster on the other. <u>Id.</u>, at 93:13-94:10 (A388-A398). The dumpster was enclosed on two sides by the wooden construction fence. <u>See Pl. Ex. 1</u> (A534). A third side was near existing structures on the property. <u>Id</u>. The fourth side, which was one of the

long sides of the rectangular dumpster, was next to the open construction area. <u>Id</u>. The security gate was across the open construction area, opposite the dumpster. Trial Tr., Day II, at 89:4-20 (A384). Between the dumpster and the security gate was a construction area consisting of uneven terrain covered by gravel and construction debris, including broken concrete, cinder blocks, and plywood. <u>See</u> Trial Tr., Day II, at 32:16-33:1 (A327-A328); Pl. Ex. 1 (A534); <u>see also</u> Sames Dep., at 36:6-37:6 (A51-52).

The tie wire at issue connected to a sump pump hose lying near the dumpster parallel to the side adjacent to the open construction area. Pl. Ex. 1 (A534). The other end the tie wire attached to metal item, the end of which is visible in Plaintiff's Exhibit 2. Pl. Ex. 2 (A535). The end of the dumpster is also visible in that picture. <u>Id</u>.

II. <u>The Tie Wire</u>

The tie wire held a sump pump hose in place. Trial Tr. Day II, at 111:1-4 (A406). The pump was used to remove water from the building's basement. <u>Id.</u>, at 112:7-8 (A407). If the hose was not secured, it would fall back into the basement, preventing the pump from removing the water from that area. <u>Id.</u>, at 111:5-10 and 111:23-112:15 (A406-407). The weather forecast called for a storm overnight and Gilbane's Superintendent, Kendall Romrell wanted to make sure that the sump pump would function. <u>Id.</u>, at 111:18-22 (A406).

Mr. Romrell placed the tie wire at the end of the day on the date of the accident. <u>Id.</u>, at 111:9-13 (A406). Workers were on their way to the security gate as he tied the wire in place. <u>Id.</u>, at 112:16-19 (A407). Mr. Romrell was not aware of any workers in the area when he tied the wire. <u>Id.</u>, at 112:25-113:3 (A407-A408). He planned to remove the wire first thing the next morning. <u>Id.</u>, at 112:20-22 (A407). After he secured the hose, he went to the office to get caution tape to flag the wire. <u>Id.</u>, at 113:4-17 (A408). When he returned to the site, security guards had already locked the gate for the night. <u>Id.</u>, at 113:8-10 (A408). The security guards had already left and he did not have a key to get into the site without security. <u>Id.</u>, at 114:20-115:1 (A409-A410).

III. The Accident

Plaintiff testified that the ground was very wet, with standing puddles. Trial Tr., Day I, 151:10-13 (A270). He was leaving the job site when he decided to use the restroom. Id., at 151:21-25 (A270). The Port-A-Potties were located behind the dumpster. Id., at 156:21-23 (A275). Plaintiff had to squeeze between the security fence and the dumpster to access the Port-A-Potties. Id., at 156:17-20 (A275). He was not paying attention to what was on the ground as he approached the dumpster:

"Q. So, you weren't paying attention to anything that was on the ground in front of you, were you?

A. No, I was not."

Trial Tr., Day II, at 52:6-8 (A347). According to Nick Sames, the area included really big rocks that could cause a worker to twist his ankle. Sames Dep., at 31:1-14 (A46). Even though he was walking through an active construction site with uneven terrain, gravel, broken concrete, and other debris, Plaintiff was not paying attention to anything on the ground as he walked. Trial Tr., Day II at 52:9-13 (A347).

Plaintiff is not aware of anyone else in the area when the accident occurred:

"Q. ... At this point there was nobody else around in that entire layout area; is that right?

A. To my knowledge, no."

<u>Id.</u>, at 48:23-25 (A343). He assumes that there must have been other workers in the basement, but to his knowledge no other workers were in the yard where the accident happened. <u>Id.</u>, at 49:1-16 (A344). He is not aware of anyone who saw him while he was on the ground or who observed the exact location where he fell. <u>Id.</u>, at 56:7-12 (A351). The first thing he did after he picked himself up was to look around to confirm that no one saw him fall. <u>Id.</u>, at 50:16-19 (A345). To his knowledge, no one else saw him fall. <u>Id.</u>, at 55:24-56:1 (A350-A351); <u>see also</u> Trial Tr. Day I, at 153:2-6 ("Nobody saw me fall.") (A272).

Plaintiff did not look to see what he tripped on after the accident. Trial Tr., Day II, at 51:18-21 (A346). Instead, he got up and went to the restroom. <u>Id.</u>, at 53:13-17 (A348). After going to the restroom, he walked through the same area again. <u>Id.</u>, at 54:12-55:4 (A349-A350). He did not see what he fell on when he returned. <u>Id.</u>, at 55:5-9 (A350). Indeed, he never saw the tie wire on the date of the accident:

> "Q. ... On the day of this incident, there was no time ever that you saw a tie wire or sump pump hose at the time that you fell; is that right?

A. That's correct.

Q. Or at the time that you walked back past it after you fell, correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. And, in fact, if it had been in place you would have had to step directly over it again to get out, right?

A. I was in so much pain from my knee that all I thought about was my knee.

Q. So, just so we're understanding, you never at any time saw what you fell over on that day, right?

A. Correct."

<u>Id.</u>, at 55:10-23 (A350).

In addition to not seeing the tie wire, Plaintiff did not feel the tie wire when he fell. When asked at trial if he felt a tie wire on his shin as he fell, Plaintiff responded that the accident "happened so suddenly that [he] didn't have time to even get [his] hands in front of [him]." <u>Id.</u>, at 57:24-58:4 (A352-A353). Plaintiff volunteered during direct examination that he does not know what caused him to fall. Trial Tr., Day I, at 152:1-10 (A271) ("... as I was briskly walking over there, I tripped on something. **I don't know what I tripped on**. ...") (emphasis added).

Plaintiff introduced two photographs showing the dumpster and hose. <u>See</u> Pl. Exs. 1 and 2 (A534-A535). The pictures do not show any signs where Plaintiff tripped or fell. <u>Id</u>. Exhibit 1 shows the whole side of the dumpster with a cinder block and several pieces of wood. <u>See</u> Pl. Ex. 1 (A534). Plaintiff confirmed that only two or three cinder blocks would fit between the hose and the side of the dumpster. Trial Tr., Day II, at 68:21-69:1 (A363-A364). A standard cinder block is 16 inches by 8 inches. <u>See id.</u>, at 68:18-20 (A363). Plaintiff is 6'2" or 74 inches tall. <u>Id.</u>, at 51:9-13 (A346). When he fell, he landed flat on his stomach, causing his entire front to become soaked from a puddle of water on the ground. <u>Id.</u>, at 49:22-50:5 (A344-A345). He agreed that when it landed, his body would have covered 6'2" of space from whatever caused him to trip. <u>Id.</u>, at 51:14-17 (A346). He did not strike the dumpster when he fell. Id., at 69:8-9 (A364).

Plaintiff was seen by Dr. Joel Fechter on April 11, 2018. Transcript of Dr. Fechter ["Fechter Dep."], at 12:10-12 (A282). Plaintiff described the history of his injury to Dr. Fechter during that encounter. <u>Id.</u>, at 12:13-13:3 (A282-A283). Dr. Fechter testified that Plaintiff told him that the injury was caused by a fall on concrete. <u>Id.</u>, at 13:7-10 (A283) ("He told me that on 11-19-15, while he was at work, he tripped and fell forward onto concrete injuring his left knee."). When asked to confirm that Plaintiff stated that he fell on concrete, Dr. Fechter testified "[t]hat is exactly what he told me." <u>Id.</u>, at 39:18-21 (A109). The two photographs of the scene do not show any concrete surface in the area of the tie wire. <u>See</u> Pl. Exs. 1 and 2 (A534-A535). Indeed, Plaintiff explicitly testified that the ground near the dumpster was gravel. Trial Tr., Day II, at 32:16-18 (A327).

IV. Gilbane's Investigation.

After the accident, Plaintiff went to the J.E. Richards trailer and told two other J.E. Richards employees that he had fallen. <u>Id.</u>, at 57:5-14 (A352). He did not tell them that he fell over a tie wire, because he "didn't know what he fell over." <u>Id.</u>, at 57:21-23 (A352). Nick Sames, J.E. Richards' foreman, told Plaintiff that he fell over the tie wire. <u>Id.</u>, at 59:5 (A354). Mr. Sames confirmed that he was the source of Plaintiff's claim to have fallen over the tie wire:

"Q. Okay. Did Mr. Witkowski know what he fell on?

A. No.

Q. Do you know how it came about that it was reported that he fell over a tie wire?

A. That I told him that he fell over the [tie] wire."

Q. All right. Did you tell him this at this point where you're discussing this, this evening when we're talking about it?

A. Yes."

Sames Dep., at 32:3-13 (A47). Mr. Sames did not see the fall. <u>Id.</u>, at 30:4-7 (A45). Plaintiff understood that Mr. Sames left the area before the incident and did not see the fall. Trial Tr., Day II, at 59:6-9 (A354). Plaintiff admits that Mr. Sames made the statement linking the fall to a tie wire "without any information". <u>Id.</u>, at 59:20-22 (A354).

Plaintiff did not speak to anyone from Gilbane after the accident, <u>id.</u>, at 65:19-22 (A360), and he did not testify as to what Mr. Sames communicated to Gilbane. Mr. Sames testified that he "notified Gilbane verbally that we had an incident." Sames Dep., at 37:22-38:1 (A52-A53). Mr. Sames did not provide more specific details about what information he communicated to Gilbane. Mr. Romrell testified that he "ran into Nick Sames and he told me that a guy had fallen and hurt his knee." Trial Tr., Day II, at 115:7-8 (A410). Mr. Hinderliter testified that J.E. Richards' employees told Mr. Romrell "that a gentleman fell and hit his knee." Trial Tr., Day I, at 118:5 (A237).

Mr. Sames notified Mr. Romrell of the incident shortly after Mr. Romrell discovered that security had locked the site and left. Trial Tr., Day II, at 115:4-7 (A410). Mr. Romrell retrieved an incident report form from the Gilbane trailer for J.E. Richards to fill out. <u>Id.</u>, at 116:5-16 (A411). Mr. Sames had Plaintiff fill out the form. <u>Id.</u>, at 59:23-25 (A354). In the report, Plaintiff claimed to have "tripped on an invisible tie wire." <u>Id.</u>, at 62:25-63:5 (A357-A358). Plaintiff confirmed that the allegations in his Complaint that he tripped on a tie wire were based entirely on a statement made by someone who did not see him fall. <u>Id.</u>, at 69:14-18 (A264).

Mr. Romrell was not able to access or personally investigate the job site the day of Plaintiff's accident. <u>Id.</u>, at 109:10-15 (A404). When an incident occurs, Gilbane relies on information that a subcontractor provides. <u>Id.</u>, at 109:16-19 (A404). Gilbane does not routinely question whether its subcontractors are telling it the truth. <u>Id.</u>, at 110:8-11 (A405). Gilbane believed what Plaintiff reported at the time. <u>Id.</u>, at 110:3-7 (A405). At the time of Plaintiff's report, Gilbane had neither a general practice nor a specific reason to press him for additional details or question the veracity of what he reported. <u>Id.</u>, at 110:3-11 (A405).

Mr. Romrell called Robert Hinderliter to report the accident later that evening. <u>Id.</u>, at 115:9-23 (A410). Mr. Hinderliter was the Mid-Atlantic Safety Director for Gilbane on the date of the accident. Trial Tr., Day I, at 95:3-21 (A214). His job duties included investigating job site incidents and he investigated Mr. Witkowski's accident on behalf of Gilbane. <u>Id.</u>, at 109:11-15 (A229). Mr. Hinderliter went to the scene of the accident personally. Trial Tr., Day I, at 120:3-9 (A239). Mr. Hinderliter and Mr. Romrell walked the site together to look at the area where the accident happened. Trial Tr., Day II, at 122:6-12 (A417). That inspection took place the morning after the accident. Trial Tr., Day II, at 121:5-6 (A416); <u>see also</u> Trial Tr., Day I, at 120:10-13 (A239). However, the tie wire had already been removed before he arrived. <u>Id.</u>, at 120:3-16 (A239). Mr. Hinderliter did not see Plaintiff fall, did not see video of Plaintiff falling, and did not speak to anyone who claimed to have seen Plaintiff fall. <u>Id.</u>, at 115:9-15 (A234). Mr. Romrell has similarly not spoken with anyone who claims to have seen the incident. Trial Tr., Day II, at 117:9-15 (A412).

Mr. Hinderliter spoke with J.E. Richards' safety director while at the site that day. Trial Tr., Day I, at 110:10-11 (A229) and 119:5-14 (A238). There is no evidence or testimony that anyone else from J.E. Richards provided information to Gilbane during Mr. Hinderliter's investigation. The safety director had not seen the accident personally. <u>Id.</u>, at 119:17-19 (A238). Instead, that person received his information from speaking with Plaintiff and Nick Sames. <u>Id.</u>, at 119:20-120:2 (A238-A239). There is no evidence or testimony that Gilbane received any information about the cause of the incident from any source other than Plaintiff and Mr. Sames.

Gilbane was required to prepare and submit an incident report to the GSA. Id., at 110:12-17 (A229). Mr. Hinderliter prepared and signed the report on behalf of Gilbane. Id., at 111:8-13 (A230). The incident report stated that Plaintiff tripped over a tie wire. Id., at 112:8-12 (A231) and Pl. Exhibit 10 (A538).¹ However, he was clear that this conclusion was "[b]ased on the information that [he] was told[.]" Id., at 112:11-12 (A231). The only information about what happened available to Mr. Hinderliter when he conducted the report came from J.E. Richards. Id., at 121:8-24 (A240). The Gilbane employees with whom Mr. Hinderliter spoke received their information from J.E. Richards. Id., at 121:18-122:8 (A240-A241). Because no one witnessed the accident, Mr. Hinderliter was forced to rely on statements by J.E. Richards' employees: "I mean, I can only base my observations and my finding on what I'm told of the accident. I basically wasn't there during, so I have to go by what's the information that I'm told." Id., at 123:25-124:3 (A242-A243) (emphasis added). The incident report was based

¹ The transcript reflects that parties referred to this Exhibit as Plaintiff's Exhibit 8. The document pre-marked as Exhibit 8 is a form submitted to Gilbane's worker's compensation insurance carrier. That document was not shown to Mr. Hinderliter or admitted into evidence through any other witness. The GSA Report Form shown to Mr. Hinderliter and admitted into evidence was pre-marked as Plaintiff's Exhibit 10. Exhibit 10 includes several details described by Mr. Hinderliter's testimony that are not present in the pre-marked Exhibit 8, including the document title, Mr. Hinderliter's signature, and the dates of November 19 and 20. These details confirm that Exhibit 10, not Exhibit 8, was admitted into evidence. For ease of reference, this Memorandum will refer to the document pre-marked as Exhibit 10 as the "GSA Report."

solely on information from J.E. Richards. <u>Id.</u>, at 122:12-14 (A241). Mr. Hinderliter relied on that information in preparing his report. <u>Id.</u>, at 122:3-5 (A241).

The record discloses only two bits of information that were provided to Mr. Hinderliter before he submitted the GSA report. First, Mr. Sames told Mr. Romrell that a worker had fallen and hurt his knee. <u>See id.</u>, at 118:4-6 (A237); Trial Tr., Day II, at 115:7-8 (A410); <u>and</u> Sames Dep., at 37:22-38:1 (A52-A53). Second, Plaintiff filled out an incident report stating that he had "tripped on an invisible tie wire." Trial Tr., Day II, at 62:25-63:5 (A357-A358). Both statements relate that the incident happened, but do not provide additional details. Neither statement relates the specific location of the fall, the direction that Plaintiff was traveling, or the fact that he fell in a puddle.

Plaintiff's counsel did not question Mr. Hinderliter about the evidentiary basis for the incident report. Counsel did, however, ask Mr. Hinderliter if the report noted other tripping hazards. <u>See</u> Trial Tr., Day I, at 112:16-24 (A231). Mr. Hinderliter conceded that the report did not state that gravel or the dumpster were tripping hazards. <u>Id.</u>, at 112:16-21 (A231). The report also does not speculate that Plaintiff could have tripped on his own feet. <u>Id.</u>, at 112:22-24 (A231). The report simply stated that Plaintiff tripped over the tie wire. <u>Id.</u>, at 112:25-113:2 (A231-A232). Counsel did not ask, nor did Mr. Hinderliter testify, as to whether the investigation evaluated or ruled out potential alternative causes of the accident.

Mr. Romrell signed the incident report form in which Plaintiff provided his written statement. Trial Tr., Day II, at 104:25-105:7 (A399-A400). All information in that report was provided by J.E. Richards. <u>Id.</u>, at 106:5-107:10 (A401-A402). The incident report does not include any information that Mr. Romrell provided based on his own independent investigation. <u>Id.</u>, at 107:11-14 (A402). Mr. Romrell's signature on the form indicated that he had been informed of the incident. <u>Id.</u>, at 107:25-108:2 (A402-A403). The signature did not indicate that Mr. Romrell had done any personal investigation of the incident. <u>Id.</u>, at 108:3-5 (A403).

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