22-CV-975



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

GILBANE BUILDING COMPANY

Appellant,

v.

CHADWICK WITKOWSKI

Mr. Witkowski.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA SUPERIOR COURT

MR. WITKOWSKI'S BRIEF

Monique L. Lee, Esq. (DC Bar No.: #241027) CHASENBOSCOLO INJURY LAWYERS 7852 Walker Drive, Suite 300 Greenbelt, Maryland 20770 (301) 220-0050 Counsel for Mr. Witkowski

I.

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Mr. Witkowski Presented Sufficient Evidence to Support the Verdict

Appellant argues that the jury's conclusion, upheld by the trial judge, must be overturned because no reasonable jury could have reached this conclusion. Appellant advances this argument in the face of the fact that the jury's verdict is based in part in its own incident report. Appellant's incident report established that Mr. Witkowski tripped on the tie wire. Pl. Ex. 10 (A536). At its core, Appellant argues that the jury had to ignore this evidence. In fact, Appellant argues that there was no evidence that Mr. Witkowski tripped over the tie wire. Appellant's argument is simple. Since Mr. Witkowski testified at this deposition that he did not know what caused his fall, no jury could reasonably conclude that the tie wire was, more likely than not, the cause of his fall. Appellant asks this court to ignore: (1) the jury's findings of fact; (2) the trial judge's affirmance of the findings; and (3) all of the circumstantial evidence that establishes that the tie wire, in fact, caused the fall. First, Mr. Witkowski testified as to the location of his fall, which was the precise area where the tie wire was located. Trial Tr. Day I, 152:2-6 (A271). Second, Kendall Romrell, the foreman on the job site for the Appellant, testified that he had just put up the tie wire in the precise area where Mr. Witkowski fell. Dep. Tr. 111:9-17 (A406). Third, the picture of the scene shows the tie wire and no other obvious tripping hazards. Pl. Ex. 1, 2 (A534-A535). Fourth, the incident report *prepared by the Appellant* establishes that the tie wire was the cause of the fall. Pl. Ex. 10 (A536).

Fifth, and most importantly, Appellant's representative, Robert Hinderliter, testified that Appellant conducted an independent investigation that involved visiting the site, observing the

area in question, reviewing information provided by J.E. Richards employees, and all other steps that Appellant thought necessary to investigate this incident. Trial Tr. Day I, 109-110:11-1 (A228-A229). Kendall Romrell confirmed this and testified that he had taken measurements of the scene. Trial Tr. Day II, 122:10-19 (A417). Based on this investigation, which goes far beyond Appellant's assertion that it merely relied on the word of Mr. Witkowski's employer, J.E. Richards, Appellant itself concluded that the only possible explanation of this incident was that the tie wire caused Mr. Witkowski's fall. That report is part of evidence on which the jury based its conclusion. *See* Trial Tr. Day I, 111:7-23 (A230).

This evidence unarguably created a factual issue as to whether or not Mt Witkowski's fall was caused by the tie wire. This factual issue was properly submitted to the jury and resolved in favor of Mr. Witkowski.

It was not Mr. Witkowski's burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he fell over the tie wire in question. Rather, Mr. Witkowski had to introduce enough evidence that a reasonable juror could conclude that he was injured due to Appellant's negligence. This case bears striking similarities to *Rich v. D.C.*, 410 A.2d 528 (D.C. 1979). In that matter, the plaintiff tripped and fell on a sidewalk that the District was responsible for maintaining. Though the plaintiff "did not see what caused her to fall," *id.* at 530, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial Court's grant of a Motion Notwithstanding the Verdict. *See generally, id.* It specifically held that:

The [trial] court granted the motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict because appellant had not established conclusively that one of the holes on the corner was the hole into which she stepped. However, such a quantum of proof is not necessary. Appellant need only have adduced evidence from which a jury reasonably could <u>infer</u> that one of the holes in the brick sidewalk was the cause of her fall.

Id. at 533. The Court of Appeals held that because the *Rich* plaintiff testified she tripped in the approximate location of a tripping hazard in a way that was consistent with tripping over that

hazard, that was sufficient evidence to send the case to the jury. In other words, the area in which the *Rich* plaintiff referred to in her testimony was readily understandable. Further, the plaintiff's evidence, which included testimony from the plaintiff and a witness familiar with the area, was taken in conjunction with photographs admitted into evidence and allowed the jury to answer a question of fact. *Id.* The jury used this evidence, giving it the weight and credibility they deemed appropriate, and concluding that the tripping hazard at issue was the cause of the plaintiff's fall.

In Mr. Witkowski's case, Appellant had the opportunity to test whether the evidence was consistent with Mr. Witkowski tripping over the tie wire in question. Appellant's employees went to the site, examined it, took measurements, and took photos. Trial Tr. Day II, 118:10-18 (A413); 122:10-19 (A417). They nonetheless concluded that Mr. Witkowski's fall was consistent with tripping over the tie wire. Mr. Witkowski testified he tripped in the same approximate location as the tie wire. Appellant confirmed through its investigation that the fall was consistent with the tie wire causing Mr. Witkowski to fall. Trial Tr. Day I, 112 (A231); 113:1-3 (A232). This testimony in conjunction with the testimony of Mr. Witkowski and Mr. Sames and the photos of the area that were in evidence, provided a more than adequate basis, both direct and circumstantial, on which to find in Mr. Witkowski's favor. The verdict shows that after considering the evidence, the jury found that it was more likely than not that Mr. Witkowski's injuries were proximately caused by Appellant's negligence.

Mr. Witkowski's situation is also analogous to that in *District of Columbia v. Cooper*. In *Cooper*, Ms. Cooper ("plaintiff") arrived at the Lorton Reformatory to visit an inmate. There, the plaintiff was walking along a brick walkway when she "left level ground and went to unlevel ground" resulting in a fall on a portion of the walkway where bricks had been removed and replaced with sand. *District of Columbia v. Cooper*, 445 A.2d 652, 653 (1982). Plaintiff saw no

signs warning of the irregularity, nor was she given a verbal warning. Even though the plaintiff was unsure of the exact difference in elevation between the bricks and the sand, she was positive that the sand base was lower than the bricks. *Id.* at 654. At trial, the jail sergeant who processed plaintiff that evening testified that even though he did not see her fall, he noticed that plaintiff walked with a noticeable gait when he saw her again that evening. *Id.* at 654-55.

In Mr. Witkowski's case, the exact same evidence that this Court found was adequate to create a jury question in *Cooper* was presented. Mr. Witkowski fell where there were no warnings of the tie wire's presence of any kind. Id., at 108:12-17 (A227). Mr. Witkowski's fall occurred on the only avenue where the port-a-potty could be accessed. *Id.*, at 152:4-6 (A271). The tie wire was on that avenue. During trial, Mr. Witkowski had the burden of establishing that a breach of duty to use ordinary care in keeping the work site. Mr. Witkowski had the burden of proving that the tie wire was the proximate cause of his fall and resultant injuries. Mr. Witkowski did not and does not contend that the mere happening of his accident satisfied his burden of proof. Cooper, 445 A.2d at 655. This burden was successfully met at trial because Mr. Witkowski proved that Appellant's employees and agents knew that the tie wire was a hazard because Kendall Romrell believed caution tape was necessary where the tie wire was located. Since there were no warnings of any kind, the standard of care was violated. This is true since there was only one path to access the port-a-potty. No other hazards were present in the area where Mr. Witkowski fell. The investigation revealed no other hazards at the site of the fall. This is evidence upon which this jury reasonably concluded that the tie wire caused Mr. Witkowski's fall and resulting injuries.

Similarly, in *Cooper* the plaintiff's only avenue to reach the inmate she was visiting was the brick walkway. The sergeant did not notice any gait when he admitted the plaintiff in the visitor's center, but noticed an unusual gait later that evening. The question of whether the

walkway was reasonably safe was one for the jury to answer. Id. at 655. Given the condition of the walkway, the jury in Cooper reasonably determined that the unlevel walkway was the proximate cause of plaintiff's injuries. *Id.* at 653. Virtually identical evidence exists in Mr. Witkowski's case. The question of whether the pathway to the port-a-potty was reasonably safe was a proper question for the jury to decide. More importantly, there is ample evidence in the record to support the jury's verdict. In denying the appellant in Cooper's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, the Court reasoned that "only in extreme instances where no reasonable person could reach a verdict in favor of the plaintiff on the evidence presented, should a directed verdict be granted." Cooper, 445 A.2d at 655 (quoting Proctor v. District of Columbia, D.C.App., 273A.2d 656, 659 (1971). The *Cooper* Court further elaborated that "jurors are the triers of fact and where there is evidence upon which reasonable persons might differ as to negligence and other elements of liability, those questions must be decided by the jury." Id. (quoting Shewmaker v. Capital Transit Co., 143 F.2d 142, 143 (1944). The circumstances in Mr. Witkowski's case are no different than *Cooper* in ruling that sufficient evidence exists to support the jury's verdict.

Appellant contends that "Plaintiff does not know what caused him to trip and fall. [Mr. Witkowski] testified during his deposition and trial that he does not know what caused him to trip and fall. The sole witness to the accident thus acknowledged that he does not know what caused the fall." Appellant br. 2. Appellant further argues that they "inspected the scene but did not identify any physical evidence identifying where Plaintiff fell or what caused him to fall". *Id.* at 2-3. Appellant thus reaches the conclusion that "[N]either [Mr. Witkowski] nor his supervisor actually knew what caused Plaintiff to fall" and therefore Mr. Witkowski was unable to prove that the tie wire caused the fall. *Id.* at 3. This places the incorrect burden on Mr. Witkowski, arguing

that physical evidence is required in order to satisfy the elements of negligence. In reality, "[w]here there are no eyewitnesses to an accident and the cause thereof cannot be established by direct proof, then the facts which can be established circumstantially may justify an inference by the jury that negligent conditions produced the injury." *Speights v. 800 Water Street, Inc.*, 4 A.3d 471, 475 (2010) (quoting *McCoy v. Quadrangle Development Corp.*; 470 A.2d 1256, 1259 (1983). "[A] plaintiff may meet his burden by offering either direct or circumstantial evidence." *District of Columbia v. Zukerberg*, 880 A.2d 276, 281 (2005). As referenced numerous times above, ample circumstantial evidence exists throughout the record to allow the jury to reach the conclusion that Appellant was negligent on November 19, 2015.

Appellant's further attempts after the fact to contradict its own report to the federal government are meritless. For example, Appellant argues that Mr. Witkowski told Dr. Fechter that he tripped on concrete, and thus must have fallen somewhere else. However, when Mr. Witkowski testified that he fell in the area of the tie wire, but Dr. Fechter testified that Mr. Witkowski's report to him was inconsistent with that account, that created a factual issue for the jury to weigh. Dep. Tr. 39:18-21 (A109). It did not create a basis for a ruling as a matter of law. Likewise, Appellant contends that because Mr. Witkowski says he was soaked after his fall, he must be lying. This contention is based on the fact that photos taken at least a day later by Appellant do not reflect any standing water on the ground. Trial Tr. Day II, 56:21-4 (A351-A352). This ignores any number of reasonable explanations for why water present on one day may be gone the next, such as evaporation or water infiltration into the ground. "If it is possible to derive conflicting inferences from the evidence, the trial judge should allow the case to go to the jury." King v. Pagliaro Bros. Stone Co., 703 A.2d 1232 (1997); see Shannon & Luchs Co. v. Tindal, 415 A.2d 805, 807 (D.C. 1980). Taking this case law into account, Appellant continues to ignore the fact that it is at the

jury's discretion to credit certain parts of Mr. Witkowski's testimony and not others. In effect, the jury could find that Mr. Witkowski remembered the broad strokes of his fall, but discount his recollection of the details of a fall that occurred six and a half years before trial.

Likewise, Mr. Witkowski admitted that he did not see the tie wire even though he went back the way he came. This is not inconsistent with other evidence adduced at trial which showed that the tie wire was practically invisible and easy to miss. Trail Tr. Day II, 63:8-10 (A358). Mr. Romrell testified that he believed that the tie wire should be flagged with caution tape to make it more visible, but testified that he did not bring any with him when he was tying off the wire. *Id.*, at 113:4-7 (A408). Moreover, if the wire was not present at the time of Mr. Witkowski's fall, that information would have been in Appellant's possession and could have been included in its report. Appellant could have noted in its report to the federal government that Mr. Witkowski's account was not possible because the tie wire was not up at the time of his fall. Appellant did not do so, which is evidence that the tie wire was present at the time of Mr. Witkowski's fall, and that Appellant believed that it was sufficient tripping hazard to not be seen by an average employee going about their business. "A directed verdict is proper only if there is no evidentiary foundation, including all rational inferences from the evidence, by which a reasonable juror could find for the party opposing the motion, considering all the evidence in the light most favorable to that party." King, 703 A.2d at 1234; Pazmino v. WMATA, 638 A.2d 677, 678 (D.C. 1994).

As a result, the jury's verdict is supported by evidence in the record and must not be disturbed.

V. CONCLUSION

Mr. Witkowski presented substantial circumstantial evidence that he tripped over the tie wire. The Trial Court did not err in denying Gilbane's Motions for Summary Judgment, Directed

Verdict, and Judgment as a Matter of Law because substantial evidence exists in the record to support the jury's conclusion that the tie wire, with no warnings accompanying it, proximately caused Mr. Witkowski's work injuries. Gilbane's repetitive attempts to fault Mr. Witkowski for allegedly "not paying attention to what was on the ground as he approached the dumpster" does not outweigh the circumstantial evidence presented to the jury. Because of Gilbane's numerous attempts to avoid liability and escape the jury's decision, the Final Order of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia should not be reversed.